
-1- 
 

IN THE UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT 

FOR THE EASTERN DISTRICT OF KENTUCKY 

CENTRAL DIVISION 
 
 
Civil Action No.: 
 
 
ANDREW SHURTLEFF PHOTOGRAPHY, LLC, a Virginia Limited Liability Company, 
     
 
 Plaintiff,  
 
v.       
 
KENTUCKY SPORTS RADIO, LLC, a Kentucky Limited Liability Company,  
MATTHEW H. JONES, an individual, and  
ANDREW S. JEFFERSON, an individual,  
 
 Defendants. 
 

 
COMPLAINT AND JURY DEMAND 

 

 
Plaintiff Andrew Shurtleff Photography, LLC, for its Complaint against Defendants 

Kentucky Sports Radio, LLC, Matthew H. Jones, and Andrew S. Jefferson, states as follows: 

PARTIES, JURISDICTION AND VENUE 

1. Plaintiff Andrew Shurtleff Photography, LLC (“ASP”) is a limited liability 

company organized and existing under the laws of the state of Virginia. 

2. Defendant Kentucky Sports Radio, LLC (“KSR”), is a Kentucky limited liability 

company with its principal place of business in Fayette County at 268 Chippen Dale Circle, 

Lexington, Kentucky, 40517.  KSR may be served through its registered agent, Andrew 

Jefferson, at 268 Chippen Dale Circle, Lexington, Kentucky, 40517.  
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3. Defendant Matthew H. Jones (“Jones”) is an individual who is the co-owner and 

co-manager of KSR.  Jones may be served at his place of business in Fayette County at 268 

Chippen Dale Circle, Lexington, Kentucky, 40517. 

4. Defendant Andrew S. Jefferson (“Jefferson”) is an individual who is the co-owner 

and co-manager of KSR.  Jefferson may be served at his place of business in Fayette County at 

268 Chippen Dale Circle, Lexington, Kentucky, 40517. 

5. Upon information and belief, KSR, Jones, and Jefferson (collectively, the 

“Defendants”) own and operate the website at http://www.kentuckysportsradio.com (“KSR 

Website”). 

6. This action arises under the Federal Copyright Act of 1976, as amended, 17 

U.S.C. § 101, et seq.  Jurisdiction is founded on 28 U.S.C. §§ 1331 and 1338(a).   

7. This Court has personal jurisdiction over the Defendants by virtue of their 

presence in this District, as well as their transacting, doing, and soliciting business in this 

District. 

8. Venue is proper under 28 U.S.C. §§ 1391(b)(1), (c)(1-2), (d), and 1400(a). 

FACTS COMMON TO ALL CAUSES OF ACTION 

9. ASP is a limited liability corporation owned and operated by non-party Andrew 

Shurtleff (“Shurtleff”), a full-time professional photographer.  On August 31, 2012, Shurtleff 

transferred to ASP the copyrights in the photographs at issue in this matter, including the right to 

sue for accrued causes of action arising before the date of the transfer.  Accordingly, at the time 

of the filing of this lawsuit, ASP is the copyright owner and proprietor of the right, title, and 

interest in and to the photographs at issue in this matter. 17 U.S.C. § 201. 
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10. Prior to the transfer, non-party ESPN Internet Group (“ESPN”) hired Shurtleff to 

take photographs at the 2009 and 2010 National Basketball Players Association Top 100 Camp 

in Charlottesville, Virginia, and the 2011 Elite Youth Basketball League in Hampton, Virginia 

(collectively the “Basketball Camps”).  Shurtleff then granted to ESPN non-exclusive licenses to 

reproduce and display the photographs taken by Shurtleff at the Basketball Camps on ESPN’s 

website at http://sports.espn.go.com.  Pursuant to the license, ESPN displayed many of the 

photographs on its website to illustrate stories about the basketball players from the Basketball 

Camps.  With each display, ESPN posted a copyright notice next to each of the photographs 

stating either “Andrew Shurtleff,” or “Andrew Shurtleff for ESPN.com,” an example of which is 

shown in part below: 

 

11. Shurtleff also granted non-party Yahoo! Inc. (“Yahoo!”) the right to reproduce 

and display some of the photographs from the Basketball Camps on Yahoo!’s websites at 

http://rivals.yahoo.com and http://sports.yahoo.com.  Pursuant to the license, Yahoo! displayed 

many of the photographs on its websites to illustrate stories about the basketball players from the 

Basketball Camps.  With each display, Yahoo! posted a copyright notice on the photographs 

stating “Copyright Andrew Shurtleff,” an example of which is shown in part below: 
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12. Soon after each of the Basketball Camps, Shurtleff published many of the 

photographs on his website at http://andrewshurtleff.photoshelter.com (“Shurtleff Website”).  

Shurtleff posted several copyright notices, including “Photo © Andrew Shurtleff,” “Copyright 

Andrew Shurtleff,” and “© 2005-2012 Andrew Shurtleff Photography” on each web page where 

the photographs appeared, an example of which is shown here: 

 

(collectively, the “Web Notices”).  Shurtleff also embedded his copyright notice in the EXIF 

metadata in the digital file for the photographs from the Basketball Camps (collectively with the 

Web Notices, the “ASP Copyright Notices”). 

13. In February 2011, Shurtleff discovered that the Defendants had reproduced and 

were displaying seven of his photographs from the Basketball Camps on the KSR Website, as 

shown in Exhibit A (collectively the “Seven Photographs”).  The Seven Photographs were 

displayed by the Defendants at: 

• http://kentuckysportsradio.com/?p=33297; 
 
• http://kentuckysportsradio.com/?p=34832; 
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• http://kentuckysportsradio.com/?p=44355; 
 
• http://kentuckysportsradio.com/?p=17100; 
 
• http://kentuckysportsradio.com/?p=31918; 
 
• http://kentuckysportsradio.com/?p=49447; and 
 
• http://kentuckysportsradio.com/?p=66232; 

 
as shown in Exhibit A.  None of the Defendants’ displays of the Seven Photographs included 

attribution to Shurtleff. 

14. On May 12, 2011, Shurtleff, through his attorney, sent a letter to Jefferson and 

KSR, notifying them of the unauthorized displays of the Seven Photographs and demanding that 

they “[c]ease any further use of [the Seven Photographs].”  Jones replied to the letter, but the 

parties did not resolve Shurtleff’s claims.  The Defendants did not remove the Seven 

Photographs from the KSR Website even after receiving Shurtleff’s demand. 

15. In May 2012, ASP discovered that the Defendants had subsequently reproduced 

and were displaying eleven more photographs from the Basketball Camps on the KSR Website, 

as shown in Exhibit B (collectively, the “Eleven Photographs”).  The Eleven Photographs were 

displayed by the Defendants on at least twenty three distinct web pages: 

• http://kentuckysportsradio.com/?p=85824;  

• http://kentuckysportsradio.com/?p=99135; 

• http://kentuckysportsradio.com/?p=89747;  

• http://kentuckysportsradio.com/?p=94270; 

• http://kentuckysportsradio.com/?p=105249;  

• http://kentuckysportsradio.com/?p=90507;  

• http://kentuckysportsradio.com/?p=86611;  

Case: 5:14-cv-00031-DCR   Doc #: 1   Filed: 01/31/14   Page: 5 of 12 - Page ID#: 5



-6- 
 

• http://kentuckysportsradio.com/?p=95038;  

• http://kentuckysportsradio.com/?p=95768;  

• http://kentuckysportsradio.com/?p=96777;  

• http://kentuckysportsradio.com/?p=98671;  

• http://kentuckysportsradio.com/?p=105392;  

• http://kentuckysportsradio.com/?p=108777; 

• http://kentuckysportsradio.com/?p=106616;  

• http://kentuckysportsradio.com/?p=107329;  

• http://kentuckysportsradio.com/?p=108577;  

• http://kentuckysportsradio.com/?p=108041;  

• http://kentuckysportsradio.com/?p=108490;  

• http://kentuckysportsradio.com/?p=109740;  

• http://kentuckysportsradio.com/?p=110067; 

• http://kentuckysportsradio.com/?p=108733;  

• http://kentuckysportsradio.com/?p=110005; and  

• http://kentuckysportsradio.com/?p=110434; 

as shown in Exhibit B.  Only two of the Defendants’ displays of the Eleven Photographs 

included attribution to Shurtleff. 

16. On June 6, 2012, Shurtleff, through his attorney, sent an e-mail to Jones notifying 

him and KSR of the unauthorized reproduction and display of the Eleven Photographs.  In that e-

mail, Shurtleff also notified the Defendants that they were still displaying the Seven Photographs 

without authorization.  Jones responded to the e-mail, but the parties did not resolve Shurtleff’s 
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claims.  The Defendants did not remove the Eleven Photographs from the KSR Website even 

after receiving Shurtleff’s demand. 

17. As of the date of the filing of this lawsuit, the Defendants continue to reproduce, 

display, and distribute the Seven Photographs and the Eleven Photographs (collectively the 

“Photographs”). 

18. The Photographs in perspective, orientation, positioning, lighting, and other 

details are entirely original, distinctive, and unique.  As such, the Photographs are subject matter 

protectable under the Copyright Act. 

19. Neither Shurtleff nor ASP ever authorized the Defendants to reproduce, display, 

or distribute the Photographs. 

20. Shurtleff complied with all respects with the Copyright Act of 1976, 17 U.S.C. § 

101 et seq., as amended, and all other laws and regulations governing copyrights and secured the 

exclusive rights and privileges in and to the copyrights for the Photographs. 

21. The Register of Copyrights for the U.S. Copyright Office issued to Shurtleff four 

Certificates of Registration for the copyrights to the Photographs: numbers VAu 992-151, 

effective June 29, 2009; VAu 1-016-325, effective July 1, 2009; VA 1-732-885, effective August 

12, 2010; and VA 1-789-804, effective October 5, 2011, as shown in Exhibits A, B, and C.   

22. After the August 31, 2012 written transfer, ASP became the copyright owner of 

the Photographs. 

FIRST CAUSE OF ACTION 

Copyright Infringement – 17 U.S.C. §§ 101 et seq. 

23. ASP re-alleges and incorporates by reference paragraphs 1 through 22 above. 
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24. On information and belief, Defendants had access to the Photographs through 

their displays on the Shurtleff Website, ESPN’s website, and Yahoo!’s websites.  Defendants’ 

reproduction, display, and distribution of the Photographs are substantially similar to the 

Photographs as displayed on the Shurtleff Website, ESPN’s website, and Yahoo!’s websites.  

25. The Defendants did not have authorization of Shurtleff, ASP, or the law to 

reproduce, distribute, or display the Photographs.   

26. The Defendants have not compensated Shurtleff or ASP for reproducing, 

displaying, and distributing the Photographs. 

27. The Defendants violated ASP’s exclusive rights granted in 17 U.S.C. § 106, 

specifically its exclusive right to: (1) reproduce the copyrighted works in copies; (2) distribute 

copies of the copyrighted works to the public by sale or other transfer of ownership, or by rental, 

lease, or lending; and (3) display the copyrighted works publicly. 

28. As Shurtleff first discovered the infringements of the Seven Photographs in 

February of 2011 and the infringements of the Eleven Photographs in May of 2012, all claims of 

infringement are within the three-year statute of limitations period pursuant to 17 U.S.C. § 

507(b). 

29. As a direct and proximate result of his wrongful conduct, the Defendants have 

realized and continue to realize profits and other benefits rightfully belonging to ASP for the 

Photographs.  Accordingly, ASP is entitled to and seeks an award of actual damages and profits 

pursuant to 17 U.S.C. § 504(b). 

30. In the alternative, ASP is entitled to and seeks statutory damages for Defendants’ 

infringement of fourteen of the Photographs, including attorneys’ fees and costs, pursuant to 17 

U.S.C. §§ 504(c)(1) and 505. 
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31. Defendants’ continued display is willful and performed with knowledge that the 

reproduction, display, and distribution of the Photographs is unauthorized; ASP is therefore 

entitled to the recovery of enhanced statutory damages for fourteen of the Photographs pursuant 

to 17 U.S.C. 504 (c)(2).   

SECOND CAUSE OF ACTION 

Digital Millennium Copyright Act Violations – 17 U.S.C. §§ 1201 et seq. 

32. ASP re-alleges and incorporates by reference paragraphs 1 through 22 above. 

33. The ASP Copyright Notices constitute copyright management information 

pursuant to 17 U.S.C. § 1202(c)(1), (2) and (3). 

34. Upon information and belief, the Defendants without the authority of Shurtleff, 

ASP or the law, intentionally removed and altered ASP’s Copyright Notices and displayed and 

distributed the Photographs, knowing that ASP’s Copyright Notices had been removed or 

altered, knowing or having reasonable grounds to know that such removal or alteration would 

induce, enable, facilitate, or conceal a copyright infringement, in violation of 17 U.S.C. § 

1202(b). 

35. As a direct and proximate result of the Defendants’ wrongful conduct, ASP has 

suffered damages and so is entitled to the remedies set forth under 17 U.S.C. § 1203. 

36. Specifically, ASP is entitled to and seeks actual damages pursuant to 17 U.S.C. § 

1203(c)(2). 

37. In the alternative, ASP is entitled to and seeks statutory damages pursuant to 17 

U.S.C. § 1203(c)(3)(B), and costs of litigation and attorneys’ fees pursuant to 17 U.S.C. § 

1203(b)(4-5). 
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THIRD CAUSE OF ACTION 

Contributory Infringement 

38. ASP re-alleges and incorporates by reference paragraphs 1 through 22 above. 

39. Jones and Jefferson, without the authority of Shurtleff, ASP, or the law and in 

violation of 17 U.S.C. § 501, infringed contributorily by intentionally inducing and encouraging 

direct infringement by KSR. 

40. Jones and Jefferson are contributorily liable for the intentional encouragement of 

direct infringement by knowingly taking steps which were substantially certain to result in direct 

infringement. 

41. As a direct and proximate result of Jones and Jefferson’s contributory 

infringement, ASP has suffered injuries and damages and so is entitled to the remedies set forth 

under 17 U.S.C. §§ 504 and 505. 

FOURTH CAUSE OF ACTION 

Vicarious Liability 

42. ASP re-alleges and incorporates by reference paragraphs 1 through 22 above. 

43. As co-owners and co-managers of KSR, Jones and Jefferson had both the legal 

right and the ability to stop KSR’s direct infringement of the Photographs. 

44. As co-owners and co-managers of KSR, Jones and Jefferson gained a direct 

financial benefit from KSR’s direct infringement of the Photographs. 

45. As such, Jones and Jefferson had: (1) the right and ability to supervise or control 

the infringing activity; and (2) a direct financial benefit from that activity.  Therefore, Jones and 

Jefferson are vicariously liable for the infringing activity. 
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46. As a direct and proximate result of Jones and Jefferson’s vicarious infringement, 

ASP has suffered injuries and damages. 

PRAYER FOR RELIEF 

WHEREFORE, ASP prays that this Honorable Court: 

1. Issue an order that the Defendants’ unauthorized conduct violates ASP’s rights under the 

Federal Copyright Act at 17 U.S.C. §101, et seq.; 

2. Order the Defendants to account to ASP for all gains, profits, and advantages derived 

from the Defendants’ infringement of the Photographs; 

3. Order the Defendants to pay ASP all profits and damages in such amount as may be 

found pursuant to 17 U.S.C. § 504(b) (with interest thereon at the highest legal rate) for 

the Defendants’ infringement of the Photographs;  alternatively, maximum statutory 

damages where applicable in the amount of $30,000 for each infringement pursuant to 17 

U.S.C. § 504 (c)(1); or such other amount as may be proper pursuant to 17 U.S.C. § 504;  

4. Award ASP maximum statutory damages where applicable in the amount of $150,000 for 

each of the Defendants’ infringement of ASP’s copyrights in the Photographs pursuant to 

17 U.S.C. § 504 (c)(2); or such other amount as may be proper pursuant to 17 U.S.C. § 

504;  

5. Award ASP actual damages suffered and profits for each violation of 17 U.S.C. § 

1202(b), pursuant to 17 U.S.C. § 1203(c)(2); or such other amount as may be proper 

pursuant to 17 U.S.C. § 1203; 

6. Alternatively, award ASP maximum statutory damages in the amount of $25,000 for each 

violation of 17 U.S.C. § 1202(b) pursuant to 17 U.S.C. § 1203(c)(3)(B); or such other 

amount as may be proper pursuant to 17 U.S.C. § 1203; 
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7. Order that Jones and Jefferson are contributorily liable for the direct infringement of 

ASP’s copyrights in the Photographs; 

8. Order that Jones and Jefferson are vicariously liable for the direct infringement of ASP’s 

copyrights in the Photographs; 

9. Order the Defendants to pay ASP its costs of litigation and reasonable attorneys’ fees in 

this action, pursuant to 17 U.S.C. § 505 and 17 U.S.C. § 1203;  

10. Order the Defendants to deliver to ASP all copies of the Photographs and all other 

materials containing such infringing copies of the Photographs in the Defendants’ 

possession, custody or control; 

11. Order the Defendants, their agents, and servants to be enjoined during the pendency of 

this action and permanently from infringing the copyrights of ASP in any manner and 

from reproducing, distributing, displaying, or creating derivative works of the 

Photographs; and 

12. Order such other and further relief as this Honorable Court deems just and equitable. 

JURY DEMAND 
 

ASP demands a trial by jury on all issues so triable. 
 

Respectfully submitted, this 31st day of January, 2014. 
 
  
 /s/  Annie O’Connell 
                                                                        ______________________________ 
 Annie O’Connell 
 O’CONNELL LAW OFFICE, PLLC 
 600 W. Main Street, Suite 100 
 Louisville, KY 40202 
 oconnell.law.ofc@gmail.com 
 (502) 540-5700 (telephone) 
  

Attorneys for Plaintiff Andrew Shurtleff 
Photography, LLC 
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